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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

DARRYL E. JOHNSON,
Plaintiff,

No. 3:16-cv-01050 (SRU)

V.

NANCY A. BERRYHILL, Acting
Commissioner of Social Security,
Defendant.

RULING ON CROSSMOTIONSFOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS

In the instant Social Security appeal, DaEyJohnson moves to reverse the decision by
the Social Security Administration (SSA)rdeng him disability insurance benefits. The
Commissioner of Social Securityoves to affirm the decision.lthough | conclude that most of
Johnson’s arguments for reverkadk merit, | hold that th@dministrative Law Judge (ALJ)
failed to properly describe all of Johnson’s litidas to the vocational expert. As a result of the
ALJ’s omission, her finding that Johnsooutd perform other work was not supported by

substantial evidence. Therefore, | grant Johnson’s motion and deny the Commissioner’s.

Standard of Review

The SSA follows a five-step process to evaluate disability clédeigan v. Astrue708
F.3d 409, 417 (2d Cir. 2013) (per curiam). Eitse Commissioner determines whether the
claimant currently engages ‘isubstantial gainful activity.Greek v. Colvin802 F.3d 370, 373
n.2 (2d Cir. 2015) (per curiam) (citing 20 C.F§404.1520(b)). Second, if the claimant is not
working, the Commissioner determines whetherctagnant has a “severe’ impairment,” i.e.,

an impairment that limits his or her ability do work-related activitiegphysical or mental)d.
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(citing 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(c), 404.1521). Thifdhe claimant does have a severe
impairment, the Commissioner determines whethe impairment is considered “per se
disabling” under SSA regulationigl. (citing 20 C.F.R88 404.1520(d), 404.1525, 404.1526). If
the impairment is not per se disabling, theefore proceeding to step four, the Commissioner
determines the claimant’s “residual functionapacity” based on “all threlevant medical and
other evidence of recordld. (citing 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(a)(4%), 404.1545(a)). “Residual
functional capacity” is defined as “what the otaint can still do despite the limitations imposed
by his [or her] impairment.Id. Fourth, the Commissioner ddeis whether the claimant’s
residual functional capacity allows him orrhe return to “past relevant workld. (citing 20
C.F.R. 88 404.1520(e), (), 404.1560(WHifth, if the claimant canot perform past relevant
work, the Commissioner determines, “based on the claimant’s residual functional capacity,”
whether the claimant can do “other workstixng in significant numbers in the national
economy.”ld. (20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(g), 404.1560(b)). Ppinecess is “sequential,” meaning
that a petitioner will be judged disabled oiflire or she satisfies all five criteri@ee id.

The claimant bears the ultimate burden to ptitneg he or she vgadisabled “throughout
the period for which benefits are sought,” as wethasburden of proof ithe first four steps of
the inquiry.ld. at 374 (citing 20 C.F.R. § 404.1512(a&§glian 708 F.3d at 418. If the claimant
passes the first four steps, however, there isratéd burden shift” to ta Commissioner at step
five. Poupore v. Astrueb66 F.3d 303, 306 (2d Cir. 2009) (perriam). At step five, the
Commissioner need only show that “there igknva the national econonthat the claimant can
do; he need not providedditional evidence of the claim&ntesidual functional capacityld.

In reviewing a decision by the Commissioneconduct a “plenary review” of the



administrative record but do not decue novovhether a claimant is disabldgrault v. Soc.
Sec. Admin., Comm’'683 F.3d 443, 447 (2d Ci2012) (per curiamsee Mongeur v. Heckler
722 F.2d 1033, 1038 (2d Cir. 1983) (per curiam) (“Htkviewing court isequired to examine
the entire record, includingatradictory evidence and eedce from which conflicting
inferences can be drawn.”). | may reverse @ommissioner’s decision “only if it is based upon
legal error or if the factual findings are not sugied by substantial evidea in the record as a
whole.” Greek 802 F.3d at 374-75. The “substantial evierstandard is “very deferential,”
but it requires “more than a mere scintill8rault, 683 F.3d at 447—-48. Rather, substantial
evidence means “such relevant evidenceraasonable mind might accept as adequate to
support a conclusion.'Greek 802 F.3d at 375. Unless the Commissioner relied on an incorrect
interpretation of the law, “[i]f there is subst&l evidence to supportéldetermination, it must

be upheld.”Selian 708 F.3d at 417.

[, Facts

Darryl E. Johnson applied for Social Secudtyability insurance benefits on December
28, 2012, alleging a period of disability from Jaryuh, 2013. Statement of Stipulated Facts,
Doc. No. 13-2, at 1. Johnson identified disability as “[d]Jegenerative disc diseasg€e
Disability Determination Exglnation (Initial), R. at 145.

The SSA initially denied Johnson’s claim on February 28, 2013, finding that although
Johnson’s “condition result[ed] in some limitations in [his] ability to perform work related

activities, . . . th[o]séimitations d[id] not prevent [him] fysm performing work [he] ha[d] done



in the past.ld. at 153. In the agency'’s view, Johnson’s condition was “not severe enough to
keep [him] from working.! Id.

Johnson sought reconsideratialieging that he also sufted from a hand injury and
cognitive impairment. The SSA adhered todésision upon reconsdation on September 12,
20132 Disability Determination Explatian (Reconsideration), R. at 177.

Johnson requested a hearing before an ALJ, which was held on February 4, 2015. Tr. of
ALJ Hr'g, R. at 68. At the hearing, ALJ Shar8agh questioned Johnson about his conditions
and treatment history, particularly asking “howahuwveight . . . [he] th[ought] [he] c[ould] lift
and carry comfortably,” and “[hJowong or . . . how far . . . [he] th[ought] [he] c[ould] stand or
walk.” 1d. at 112. Johnson replied that he coulddiily “somewhere between five and 10
pounds,” could stand only for “120 minutes,” and rarely walkeltl. at 112-13.

The ALJ then heard testimony from two vocational experts, one for Johnson, Jeff R.
Blank, PhD, and one for the SSA, Steven B. Sachs, PhD. Johnson’s attorney questioned Dr.

Blank first. She described Johnson as “closely approaching eetVage, ha[ving] completed a

1 The SSA consultant, Rafael S. Wurzel, Mi2emed Johnson’s statements regarding his
symptoms only “[p]artially [c]redible” becauses “ability to do work related activities” was
only “mildly to moderately limited.” Disabilitypetermination Explanation (Initial), R. at 149—
50. He assigned Johnson “exertional limitatioosbccasionally lifting or carrying 20 pounds
and frequently lifting or carigg 10 pounds, but concluded tHt#t[o]se limitations would not
prevent [Johnson] from periming past relevant workld. at 150, 152.

2 Carol R. Honeychurch, MD—the SSA consultahthe reconsideration level—agreed with Dr.
Wurzel that Johnson was only “fotially [c]redible” because his physicians, Pietro A. Memmo,
MD, and Robert L. Reginio, MD, gave him grimild—-moderate restrictions.” Disability
Determination Explanation (Reconsideration)aR171. She particullgrnoted Dr. Memmo’s
statement that “the level of paamd debility that [Johnson] ieporting is out of proportion with
objective radiological findings.Id. at 157. A psychological consutia Warren Leib, PhD, also
considered Johnson’s file and concluded famdinson had “a crediliy issue” because his
“symptoms [were] out of propodn to evidence,” and he was “Un@ to determine etiology [of]
most of [Johnson’s] complaints.”
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high school education with specific vocationaling . . . , and his work history being self-
employed as a freight brokertae sedentary exertion leveld. at 121. Johnson’s counsel then
asked, “Assuming . . . [Johnson] experiences fatigtlee@xtent that he @he is required to
take multiple breaks during an eight-hour work da, there jobs available for him in the local
economy?’1d. at 123. Dr. Blank replied, “That desdign of an individual would not be
consistent with competitive work, so | would m@oipect [] Johnson to be able to perform any of
his past . . . positions or other positions given those limitatidthsat 124. After Johnson’s
attorney added furthers restriction @edling “to nap during #t time period” and
“experienc[ing] pain that integfes with his ability to work and complete tasks on time,” Dr.
Blank concluded that “clearly thereowld be no work for such a persoid: at 124-25.

ALJ Singh called the SSA’s vocational expét. Sachs. Dr. Sachs characterized
Johnson’s past work as “sedentary” and “ligihd.”at 135. The ALJ asked Dr. Sachs to
“assum[e] . . . an individual [with] the same edtion and past work experience as [Johnson],”
who could “lift and carry 20 pounds occasionallyndh10 pounds frequently; stand and walk for
six hours and sit for six hours withsd/stand option; . . . never clbradders, ropes, or scaffolds;
occasionally climb ramps, stairs, balance, staopgl, courch, and crawl; . . . [and be] further
limited to understanding, rememting, and carrying out simplegutine, repetitive, non-complex
tasks.”ld. 138. She also asked Dr. Sachs tatlime hypothetical person to “avoid[ing]
concentrated exposures to hazartts.’at 139. Dr. Sachs opined that, although such a person
could not perform Johnson’s pasb§ he could find work as a€teptionist, . . . general office
clerk, . . . [or] as @roduction inspector.ld. With the further limitations of “frequent limitations

in ... gross hand manipulations of te& upper extremity”—Johnson’s non-dominant hand—



Dr. Sachs concluded that “the work as a ptioaist and general officer clerk could be
performed,” but not the wor&s a production inspectdd. at 139-40. When the ALJ asked if
such a person could find work if they “would &k task for more than 15 percent of the work
day and would need to take a nap duringddwgfor . . . about half an hour,” Dr. Sachs
responded, “No21d. at 140.

On February 27, 2015, the ALJ issued an apinn which she founthat Johnson “ha[d]
not been under a disability, as defined inSleeial Security Act, fsm January 1, 2013, through
the date of th[e] decision.” ALJ Decision, R.5&tL At the first step, the ALJ found that Johnson
“ha[d] not engaged in any substantial gairddlivity since January 1, 2013, the alleged onset
date.”ld. at 40. At the second stepetALJ found that Johnson’s “degenerative disc disease,
depression, encephalopathy, and fiboromyalgia” Weegere impairments” tt “cause[d] a more
than minimal impact on the claimant’s ability to maintain and perform basic work activities.”
Id. At the third step, the ALJ determined thahdson’s impairments were not per se disabling
because Johnson “d[id] not have an impairnoertombination of impairments that medically
me[t] or equalled] a listed impairmentd. at 42.

The ALJ then assessed Johnson'’s residuatifumad capacity, and found that he could

“perform light work,” with certain limitationsThose limitations were that Johnson (1) was “able

3 The ALJ also asked about a hypothetical persho was “limited tdifting and carrying 10
pounds occasionally and less than 10 poundgiéetly; standing and walking for two hyours
and sitting for up to six hours an eight-hour day,” and “all threame limitations . . . used in
[the] prior hypol[thetical]s.” Tr. of ALJ Hr'gR. at 140. Dr. Sachs replied that such a person
could not perform any of Johnsorpast jobs, and the ALJ did nioiquire further because such a
person would be classified as disabunder the Medical-Vocational Gridd. at 140-41.

4 The ALJ ruled that Johnson’s “sleep apneaad obesity” were “non-severe impairments as
they d[id] notmore than minimallyaffect the claimant’s ability tperform basic work activities,”
even when their “effects on the claimant’s otbevere impairments . . . [were] taken into
account.” ALJ Decision, R. at 40 n.1 & 41.
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to lift and carry [only] up to 20 pounds occasiliyyeand up to 10 pounds frequently,” (2) could
only “stand or walk for up to 6 hours of an 8 hour workday, [and] sit for up to 6 hours of an 8
hour workday,” (3) needed toltarnate sitting and standing\aill throughout the workday,” (4)
could “never climb ladder][s], ropes, or scaffolds,” (5) could “occasionally climb ramps and
stairs,” and (6) could “occamnally balance, stoop, kneel, coty and crawl.” ALJ Singh also
limited Johnson to “understanding, rememberimgl @arrying out simple, routine, repetitive,
noncomplex tasks,” and “frequently perform[ifgje and gross hand manipulations with the
upper left non-dominant extremityld. at 45. Finally, she helithat he “should avoid
concentrated exposure to hazardd.”

Although Johnson’s “residual functional capag@tgclude[d] performace of [his] past
relevant work,” ALJ Singh concluded that “there gbs that exist in significant numbers in the
national economy that [Johnson] c[ould] perfortal.”at 54. “Based on the testimony of the
vocational expert”—i.e., Dr. Sachs—the ALJ ruled that Johnson was “capable of making a
successful adjustment to other work that existsgnificant numbers in the national economy.”
Id. at 55.”A finding of ‘notdisabled [was] therefore appragte,” and the ALJ denied Johnson’s
request for disability benefitid.

Johnson requested a review of the ALEsidion by the SSA’s Appeals Council on April
28, 2015. Request for Review of Hearing Decisiod&D, R. at 20. Holding that there was “no
reason . . . to review the [ALJ]'s decision,etAppeals Counsel “denied [Johnson’s] request for
review” on May 23, 2016. Notice of Appeals Coilrction, R. at 1. Johnson then filed a
complaint before this court urging me toeese the Commissioner’s decision on June 27, 2016.

Compl., Doc. No. 1.



[1. Discussion

On review, Johnson asserts tha ALJ’s “decision is not Is&d on substantial evidence”
and that “the Commissioner edras a matter of law.” Mem. Supp. Mot. Reverse, Doc. No. 13-1,
at 1. Specifically, he contends the ALJ’s desll functional capacity determination “was not
supported by substantial evidencigl,’at 3; that the ALJ “erreth her determination that []
Johnson lacked credibilityjd. at 7; that the ALJ wrongly “gavgreat weight’ tothe opinions of
non-examining state agency medical advisors’lassl weight to some of “the opinions of the
treating physicians,it. at 13, 14; that the ALJ incorrectlyejected the [v]ocational experts’
testimony that [] Johnson would be unable to@unstmployment”; and that the ALJ erroneously
“did not use all of the limitatins in her own [residual functiahcapacity determination] when
guestioning the second vocational expert, Dr. Sadtisdt 22. The Commissioner responds that
the ALJ’s “findings are supportda substantial evidence and mdxlea correct application of
legal principles,” and should be affied. Mot. Affirm, Doc. No. 22, at 1.

A. Was the ALJ's residual futional capacity determiti@n supported by substantial
evidence?

Johnson argues that the ALJ’s residualctional capacity determination was not
supported by substantial evidence because itrfdtdnclude limitations for all of [Johnson’s]
severe impairments.” Mem. Supp. Mot. ReveBe¢. No. 13-1, at 4n particular, Johnson
asserts that ALJ’s limitation tawnderstanding, remembering, and carrying out simple, routine,
repetitive, [and] noncomplex tasksould be appropriate if Head a low IQ but . . . does not
address whether he would be off task for ec@etage of the day due to his pain, loss of
concentration, or . . . needrfoaps and frequent break&d” Johnson also disputes the ALJ’s

finding that he “is frequently dto perform fine and gross maulations with . . . his left
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hand,” a conclusion, he contends, that was suphbsté[n]one of his doctors, nor even the state
agency non-examining consultantkl” at 5. The Commissioner resparttiat the ALJ’s residual
functional capacity findings are adequat&lypported by substantiavidence.” Mem. Supp.

Mot. Affirm, Doc. No. 22, at 5. | agree withalCommissioner, and thefore affirm the ALJ’s
residual functional capacity findings.

Between steps three and fadrthe SSA’s analysis for disability claims, the ALJ must
“determinel], based on all the relevant medaradl other evidence ofgerd, the claimant’'s
‘residual functional capacity,” which is whatetkelaimant can still do despite the limitations
imposed by his impairmentGreek 802 F.3d at 373 n.2 (citing 20 C.F.R. § 404.1520(b)). The
ALJ’s determination need not “perfecttprrespond with” any medical source opinibfatta v.
Astrue 508 F. App’x 53, 56 (2d Cir. 2013) (summangler). Rather, the ALJ is “entitled to
weigh all of the evidence available to make a[]finding that [is] consist& with the record as
a whole.”ld. In assessing a claimant’s residual fumeél capacity, SSA regations require the
ALJ to “include a narrative discussion debarg how the evidence supports each conclusion,
citing specific medical facts (e.g., laboratonydings) and nonmedical evidence (e.g., daily
activities, observations),” as well as “discussJititgg [claimant]’s ability to perform sustained
work activities in an ordinary work settj on a regular and continuing basis . . . and
describ[ing] the maximum amount of each woekated activity the [claimant] can perform
based on the evidence availaliehe case record.” Soci8ecurity Ruling 96-8p, 1996 WL
374184, at *7. Finally, the ALJ “must also eapl how any materiahconsistencies or
ambiguities in the evidence in the case record were considered and reddlved.”

In making a residual functional capacity detsation in the present case, ALJ Singh



extensively considered Johnsontamplaints as well as his voluminous medical records. She
noted that an MRI taken on January 31, 2018¢pV&ed only a mild disc bulge and mild
degenerative disc disease”; that a laterl iRl EEG taken on July 3, 2013 “revealed no
abnormalities despite complaints of cognittlisturbance and memory problems”; and that
Johnson’s physiatrist, Pietro R. Memmo, MBld Johnson in June 2013 that “the objective
studies were all normal, his neuwglcal exam was completely norinand . . . that his level of
pain was out of proportion toelobjective findings.” ALJ Desion, R. at 46—47 (citing Letter
from Pietro A. Memmo, MD to Robert ReginidD (June 28, 2013), R. at 701 (“[T]he level of
pain and debility that [Johnsois| reporting is out of propodn with objective radiological
findings.”)). Around that same time, a newrageon, David A. Kvam, MD, found that Johnson
“had normal gait, no difficulty heel walkingp difficulty independentoe standing, [and] no
difficulty with tandem walking,” and that his “mcie tone, sensation t@sg, and reflexes were
all normal.”ld. at 47 (citing Treatment Note by David A. Kvam, MD (June 6, 2013), R. at 696,
698 (“The complaint is moderate. . . . A normalrological examination.”)). The ALJ also
pointed to an examination by Johnson’s psyetist, Randall E. Weeks, PhD, in September
2014, which “indicated that theveas no neurologic explanati of [Johnson]'s subjective
complaints” and that a battery pgychological tests “failed torfil any areas of impairment or
significant cognitive decline.Id. (citing Letter from Randall E. Weeks, PhD, to Peter
McAllister, MD (Sept. 15, 2014R. at 269—-70 (“Test data failed to find any areas of impairment
or significant cognitive écline. The pattern dést results did not indicate a neurological
explanation for [Johnson’s] subjeat cognitive complaints.”).

Other of Johnson’s doctors took a more severe view of his impairments. Johnson’s
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neurologist, Peter McAllistewyrote a letter at Johnson’s attey’s request expressing his
“strong clinical suspicion” that Johnsorfnstellation of cognitive complaints, profound
fatigue and widespread pain represent fiboromyadldgietter from Peter McAllister, MD to Anne
Hoyt (May 28, 2014), R. at 873. In another lettgitten at Johnson’s @irney’s request, Dr.
McAllister opined that Johnson “would need tkdamultiple breaks to rest (or even nap)
throughout the day,” that “[h]is current averagdydpain level would generally be sufficient to
interfere with his ability to work, and to complete tasks on time,” and that “[h]is fatigue and
cognitive issues would likely increase his ateof errors at work.” Letter form Peter
McAllister, MD (Jan. 23, 2015), R. at 971. Dr. Miiister’s treatment notes also indicated that
Johnson complained of “[c]hronfatigue, ‘since the’80’s,’ ... but worse in [the] last 12
months,” and that an examination found “esgread tender points on an otherwise normal
exam.” Treatment Note by Peter McAllister, MD (Apr. 14, 2014), R. at 874. The ALJ gave
“[]ittle weight” to Dr. McAllister’s opinions, concluding thatély were “out of proportion to his
treatment notes as well as the treatment restdsopinions of other pviders,” and in some
cases were also internally “inconsistehALJ Decision, R. at 51-52.

With regard to Johnson’s own complaindd.J Singh gave them some weight, but
concluded that Johnson’s “testimony . . . concerthegseverity of the . . . impairments [was]
not entirely consistent witthe medical evidence of reechrand as such, [was] not fully
credible.”ld. at 46. For instance, “despite [Johnsocpsnplaints regardig his inability to

concentrate and cognitive issues,” the ALJenbed that “he has adequately advocated for

® For example, on one form, Dr. McAllister “natgfhat [Johnson] could never lift more than
one pound, but in another part of th[e] same fomtheck[ed] off a box which indicate[d] that
[Johnson] c[ould] carry less than 10 poundd.J Decision, R. at 52 (citing Attending
Physicians Statement by Peter McAllister, MD (Sept. 17, 2014), R. at 943).
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himself against his private insurance carrier by detailing his treatments to them via written
correspondence and gathering third ypatatement[s] to support his caskl’ Furthermore,
“despite [Johnson]’s testimony that he sleepsriost of the day, is able to lift 5-10 pounds, sit
for up to 30 minutes, stand for 15-20 minuteshi®nically fatigued, hadifficulty holding
objects, and does not do much watkihe also testified and indtea to providers that he was
able to exercise and lost 100 pounakich included weightlifting.’ld. at 46—47. Hence, the
ALJ correctly “tfook] the claimant’s reports phain and other limitations into account” and
“exercise[d] discretion in weighg the credibility of the clainmd’s testimony in light of the
other evidence in the recordsenier v. Astrug606 F.3d 46, 49 (2d Ci2010) (per curiam).

She did not, and “[was] not required to[,] acctat claimant’s subjective complaints without
qguestion.”ld.; cf. Baladi v. Barnhart33 F. App’x 562, 564 (2d Cir. 2002) (summary order)
(“treating physician’s opinions . . . based upoaintiff's subjective complaints of pain and
unremarkable objective tests” were “not ‘walipported by medically aeptable clinical and
laboratory diagnostic techniquesihd not entitled to “controtig weight”) (citing 20 C.F.R. 88
404.1527(d)(2) , 416.927(d)(2)Jalabrese v. Astrye858 F. App’x 274, 277 (2d Cir. 2009)
(summary order) (“[W]here the Al's decision to discredit a claimant’s subjective complaints
is supported by substantial evidence, fthart] must defeto his findings.”).

In short, Johnson’s case presented a signifigaantity of confliting medical evidence,
with largely normal test results and doctors wiigagreed on the natureverity, and cause of
his symptoms. Because “[g]enuine conflictshe medical evidence are for the Commissioner to
resolve,” the ALJ was entitled to “choose betwgeoperly submitted medical opinions” and to

consider “other substantial evidence in the receundh as . . . a negative MRI,” in determining
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Johnson’s residual functional capacBee Burgess v. Astrug37 F.3d 117, 129 (2d Cir. 2008);
Veino v. Barnhart312 F.3d 578, 588 (2d Cir. 200Balsamo v. Chaterl42 F.3d 75, 81 (2d
Cir. 1998). Although ALJ Singh apparentlytight that Johnson plausibly could be
characterized as able “to perform the full rangéght work”—in which case “a finding of ‘not
disabled’ would be directedy the Medical-Vocational Guitlaes—she took his subjective
complaints into account and held that Johnson’ditialto perform . . . sbstantially all of the
requirements of th[at] level of work ha[d] been impeded by additional limitations.” ALJ
Decision, R. at 55. In crafting those limitatiotisg ALJ relied on substéial evidence in the
form of Johnson’s testimonid. at 45-47, “diagnostic testingd. at 47, “[t]reatment notesjd.
at 48, and “opinions” by consuttee and examining physicianisl. at 50-53.

Johnson nevertheless objects thatALJ “did not include limitaons for . . . his inability
to complete tasks in a timely manner,” or “mability to maintain sustained work activity
[eight] hours a day, [five] days a weelséeMem. Supp. Mot. Reverse, Doc. No. 13-1, at 4.
Those criticisms, however, simply reflect Johrisatisagreement with the relative weight the
ALJ placed on his additional limiians. “[O]nce an ALJ finds fast [I] can reject those facts
only if a reasonable factfinder wouhéve to conclude otherwiseBrault, 683 F.3d at 448
(internal quotation marks omitted). Here, | holdtth reasonable factfinder need not perforce
conclude that Johnson requires liritas for “inability to complete tasks in a timely manner”
and “inability to maintain sustained work activitfContraMem. Supp. Mot. Reverse, Doc. No.
13-1, at 4. Thus, | affirm the ALs findings in those respects.

Johnson also contends that the ALJ erred leyeianin[ing] that [] Johnson is frequently

able to perform fine and gross manipulatiath [] his left hand,” because “[n]one of his
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doctors, nor even the stateeagy non-examining consultanbpined that [Johnson] could
‘frequently’ use his left hand.” Mem. Supp. M&everse, Doc. No. 13-1, at 5. But the doctors’
opinions were hardly unanimous with regagdlohnson’s manipulagviimitations. Two of
Johnson’s treating physicians, Dr. McAllister dd Robbins, “assessed [Johnson] to be limited
to 33 [percent] of an [eight] hour day in higlay to reach, perform amputer keyboarding, or
use a mouse,” which would equate to “occadighaerforming fine and gross manipulations
under Social Security regulatioree idat 5-6 (citing Attending Physans Statements, R. at
943, 948). One of the state agency medical consultants, Dr. Honeycagiredd that Johnson
was “limited to only ‘occasional’ fingring with his left upper extremityld. at 6 (citing
Disability Determination Explanation (Reconsidtion), R. at 173But—as Johnson himself
admits—the other state agency medical cttast) Dr. Wurzel, “opined that [Johnson] had no
manipulative limitations.d. (citing Disability DeterminatiofExplanation (Initial), R. at 151).
The ALJ rationally could compare those opini@amsl conclude that Johnson’s manipulative
limitation was properly set somewhere between “occasional” use and no limitation at all—in
other words, at “frequent” us8ee Veinp312 F.3d at 588 (“Genuine conflicts in the medical
evidence are for the Commissioner to resolvéngeur v. Heckler722 F.2d 1033, 1039 (2d
Cir. 1983) (per curiam) (“[T]he report of a consultative physician may constitute [substantial]
evidence.”). Even if “the admisirative record may also adequgteupport” the conclusion that
Johnson was limited to “occasional” use of hindyahe ALJ’s “contrary finding[]” is supported
by substantial evidence and “mib& given conclusive effectSee Genier606 F.3d at 49.

Under that “very deferentialatdard of review,” | considghe ALJ’s residual functional

capacity finding to have been based on “sutdévent evidence as a reasonable mind might
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accept as adequate to support a conclusldndt 448;Greek 802 F.3d at 375. Therefore,
because “there is substantial evidence to supperdetermination,” | affirm the ALJ’s decision

on that pointSee Selian708 F.3d at 417.

B. Did the ALJ properly find that Johnson lacked credibility?

Johnson also argues that the ALJ wrongly “determin[ed] that [] Johnson lacked
credibility” and improperly “rejected the parts[pflohnson’s testimony that he sleeps for most
of the day and is chronically fatigued.” MeBupp. Mot. Reverse, Doc. No. 13-1, at 7-8. The
Commissioner responds that the Atorrectly exercised her “digtion to evaluate [Johnson]’s
credibility in light of the evidece of the record.” Mem. Supplot. Affirm, Doc. No. 22, at 12.

Under SSA regulations, “[w]hetetermining a claimant’s [residual functional capacity],
the ALJ is required to take the claimant’s repaf pain and othdimitations into account.”
Genier, 606 F.3d at 49. The ALJ is not, however, triggd to accept the claimant’s subjective
complaints without question; he may exerdgeretion in weighing # credibility of the
claimant’s testimony in light of thother evidence ithe record.’ld. “Credibility findings of an
ALJ are entitled to great deferee and . . . can be reversamty if they are patently
unreasonable Pietrunti v. Dir., Off. oflWorkers’ Comp. Program4.19 F.3d 1035, 1042 (2d Cir.
1997) (internal quotation marks omittedge Aponte728 F.2d at 591 (“If the Secretary’s
findings are supported by substantial evidettoe court must uphold the ALJ’s decision to
discount a claimant’s subjectiveraplaints of pain.”). | do notansider the the ALJ’s credibility
findings to have been “patently unreasonaloletinsupported by “substéal evidence,” and
therefore affirm themSee Pietruntill19 F.3d at 10422ponte 728 F.2d at 591.

SSA regulations “provide a two-step procissevaluating a claimant’s assertions of
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pain and other limitationsGenier, 606 F.3d at 49. “At the firsttep, the ALJ must decide
whether the claimant suffers from a medicallyedaminable impairment that could reasonably be
expected to produce the symptoms allegét.{citing 20 C.F.R. 8§ 404.1529(b)). “If the
claimant does suffer from such an impairmenthatsecond step, the ALJ must consider ‘the
extent to which [the claimant’s] symptoms aaasonably be accepted as consistent with the
objective medical evidence and other evidemdeecord,” after taking into account
“[s]tatements [the claimant] @mthers make about [his] impairmi€s), [his] restrictions, [his]
daily activities, [his] efforts tevork, or any other relevant statents [h e] make[s] to medical
sources during the course of examination or itneat, or to [the agency] during interviews, on
applications, in lettersnd in testimony in [its] administrative proceedingsl”(quoting 20
C.F.R. 8 404.1512(b)(1)(ii))). Ultimately, “[a]sfact-finder, the ALJ has the discretion to
evaluate the credibility of a claiman®ietrunti, 119 F.3d at 1042 (internal quotation marks
omitted), and “[i]t is the function of the [ALJhot the reviewing courts, . . . to appraise the
credibility of witnesses, including the claimamiponte 728 F.2d at 591 (brackets omitted).

In the instant case, the ALJ found that Jaimsuffered from the “severe impairments” of
“degenerative disc disease, depression, encephalopathy, and fibromyalgia,” ALJ Decision, R. at
40, and so apparently determined that Johfswifier[ed] from a mdically determinable
impairment that could reasonably beected to produce the symptoms allege@&nier, 606
F.3d at 49 (citing 20 C.F.R. § 404.1529(b)). A¢ 8econd stage, however, the ALJ concluded
that Johnson’s claimed symptoms could nea'§onably be accepted as consistent with the

objective medical evidence and other evidence of rec8ek"Genier606 F.3d at 49 (internal

® The ALJ discounted Johnson’s complaints with rdda other disordersuch as sleep apnea
and obesitySeeALJ Decision, R. at 40 n.1 & 41. Johnson sloet appear to have challenged
her decision with regar those illnesses.

16



guotation marks omitted). She noted, for instance, that notwithstanding Johnson’s repeated
“complaints regarding his inability to concen&&nd cognitive issues,” neurological exams over
a period of nearly two years “failed to find any areas of impairment or significant cognitive
decline.”SeeALJ Decision, R. at 46. Physical examver the same period were likewise
“normal” and failed to substantiate Johnson’s clanhmtense pain, to the extent that one of
Johnson’s own doctors “advised [him] that [the] levepain and debility that he was reporting
was out of proportion with obgtive radiological findings.Id. at 47.

So too, the ALJ found Johnson’s testimony inestesit with “other statements with
respect to his daily activitiesSee Genier606 F.3d at 50. For example, “[d]espite [Johnson]’s
testimony that he sleeps for most of the dagbig to lift 5-10 pounds, sit for up to 30 minutes,
stand for 15—-20 minutes, is chronically fatigued; Gdficultly holding objects, and does not do
much walking,” Johnson was able to |d€¥) pounds through diet and exercise, and was
described by his nutritionist asrie of [her] top [three] clienis his dedication to weight loss
and desire to regain his health.” ALJ Decision, R. at 46sdél;etter from Rita Anderson (Dec.
2, 2013), R. at 79%ee alsd’rogress Notes by Rita Anderséh,at 795 (reporting that Johnson
performed “moderate exercise”).hison also reported that hexqaeted “stretching exercises”
several times per day, Activities of Daily Ling (Jan. 14, 2013), R. at 319; “daily” cooked
“complete nutritional meals as recommendgdhis] dietician for weight lossjd. at 321;

“[d]aily” walked and drove alone outsidig,. at 322; and could “lift 20 to 25 poundsd. at 324.
“[A] claimant need not be an invalid to beund disabled under tt&ocial Security Act,”
Balsamg 142 F.3d at 81, but the ALJ reasonably ddwve found that Johnson’s relatively high

level of activity, his impressivereight loss, and his ordinary atieal records “weighed against a
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positive credibility finding [with regard] to [Johnsdsubjective assessment of the intensity of
his symptoms.’Campbell v. Astrued65 F. App’x 4, 7 (2d Cir. 2012) (summary order);
Calabrese 358 F. App’x at 277-78 (“[T]he ALJ’s adrse credibility finding was . . . amply
supported by evidence that [the claimant] admitted her ability to cook, clean, do laundry,
shop, and handle her own finances despite heegsetl claims of disabling and continuous pain
and mental confusion.”). Her, “the ALJ’s decision to dcount [Johnson]'s subjective
complaints is supported by substantial evidenSeg Calabrese358 F. App’x at 278.

Johnson insists that “it is just wrong to fault a person for following doctors’
recommendations to improve [his] health,” MeBupp. Mot. Reverse, Doc. No. 13-1, at 11, but
that confuses the issue. To be sure, the SeCaondit has stated théjw]hen a disabled person
gamely chooses to endure pain in order to punsyportant goals, . . . it would be a shame to
hold th[at] endurance againsthin determining benefitsnless his conduct truly showed that he
is capable of working Balsamo 142 F.3d at 81-82 (emphasis added). But the question is not
simply whether Johnson “reported pain” or vadiserwise negatively impacted by his condition,
for “disability requires more than mere inability to work without paee Dumas v. Schweiker
712 F.2d 1545, 1552 (2d Cir. 1988)ince v. Astrug490 F. App’x 399, 400 (2d Cir. 2013)
(summary order). “To be disabling, pain mussbesevere, by itself an conjunction with other
impairments, as to precluday substantial gainful employmenDumas 712 F.2d at 1552
(emphasis added). Here, the ALJ considerdmhgdon’s subjective complaints, his doctors’
opinions, and the medical record as a whatel concluded that Johnson was “capable of
working” because his limitations did not “gtade any substantial gainful employmer@ée

Balsamo 142 F.3d at 82Dumas 712 F.2d at 1552. Because “[t]here was substantial medical
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evidence in the record that supported the AldEtermination that [Johnson] was able to
undertake a variety of physicabtes, and it is clear thate¢hALJ took into consideration
[Johnson]’s legitimate limitations . . . [in] theesidual functional capacity] determination,” |

affirm the ALJ’s appraisal of Johnson’s credibili§ee Prince490 F. App’x at 400.

C. Did the ALJ correctly evaluatihe medical opinion evidence?

Johnson challenges the ALJ'satment of the medical apon evidence on two fronts.
First, he objects to the ALJ’s decision to \g{] great weight to the opinions of [state] non-
examining physicians.” Mem. Supp. Mot. RewerBoc. No. 13-1, at 13. Second, he argues that
the ALJ incorrectly gave only “limited” and “partiaweight” to the opinias of two of Johnson’s
treating physicians, Dr. Mdlister and Dr. Robbindd. at 15. The Commissioneeplies that the
ALJ “appropriately assigned the[] [s]tate ageptysician and psycholaml opinions great
weight” and “provided lengthy disissions of her reasons for afiing less than controlling
weight to the [treating] physiaiopinions.” Mem. Supp. Mot. Affirm, Doc. No. 22, at 6, 8. With
regard to both sets of opinigrisaffirm the ALJ’s ruling.

“The treating physician rule provides thatAinJ should defer to ‘to the views of the

physician who has engaged in the primary treatroktite claimant,” but need only assign those
opinions “controlling weight” ithey are “well-supported by mexilly acceptable clinical and
laboratory diagnostic techniques and . . . not inconsistent vatbthier substantial evidence in

[the] case record”"Cichocki v. Astrug534 F. App’x 71, 74 (2d Cir. 2013) (summary order)

(quotingGreen-Younger v. Barnhar835 F.3d 99, 106 (2d Cir. 2003); 20 C.F.R. §

" Originally a rule devised by the federal coutte treating physician rule is now codified by
SSA regulations, but “the regulations accomskldeference to unsupported treating physician’s
opinions than d[id] [the &ond Circuit’s] decisions3ee Schisler v. Sulliva F.3d 563, 567
(2d Cir. 1993).
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404.1527(c)(2)). When the ALJ “do[es] not githes treating sourcg’opinion controlling
weight,” he must “apply th&actors listed” in SSA regulains, 20 C.F.R. § 404.1527(c)(2),
including “(1) the frequency, length, naturedeextent of treatment; (2) the amount of medical
evidence supporting the opinion)) {Be consistency of the opam with the remaining medical
evidence; and (4) whether the physician is a speciaistian 708 F.3d at 418. After
considering those factors, the ALJ must “comprsieely set forth [his] reasons for the weight
assigned to a treatimghysician’s opinion,’Halloran v. Barnhart 362 F.3d 28, 33 (2d Cir.
2004), and provide “good reasoémgr the weight assignedurgess537 F.3d at 129. But
“where the ALJ’s reasoning and adherencth&regulation are clear,” the ALJ need not
“slavish[ly] recite[] each and evefgactor” listed in the regulation&twater v. Astrug512 F.
App’x 67, 70 (2d Cir. 2013) (summary order). Mover, “[g]enuine coricts in the medical
evidence are for the Commissioner’—not the court—"to resoBerfjess537 F.3d at 128.

The Second Circuit has “cautioned that ALJsustl not rely heavily on the findings of
consultative physicians afteisangle examination,” and haslvised that, ordinarily, “a
consulting physician’s opions or reports shoulde given little weight.’Selian 708 F.3d at 419;
Cruz v. Sullivan912 F.2d 8, 13 (2d Cir. 1990). In some circumstances, however, “the report of a
consultative physician may constitute [substdigi@idence” that, if it “contradict[s]” the
opinion of a treating physician, rendehe latter “not binding.SeeMongeur 722 F.2d at 1039;
see also Prince490 F. App’x at 401 (“[Clonsultative examations were still rightly weighed as
medical evidence.”Petrie v. Astrug412 F. App’x 401, 405 (2d Cir. 2011) (summary order)
(“The report of a consultative physician may ddoe . . . substantial evidence.”). The question

here is whether the ALJ sufficiently providégbod reasons” for weighing the opinions of the
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consultative physicians—Dr. Hopehurch, Dr. Wurzel, and Dr. Leib—more heavily than the
opinions of Johnson’s treating physiciaBse Burges$37 F.3d at 129.

The ALJ stated that she “gave great weigtthe opinions of the [state] non-examining
physicians” because they “were all consistenh\jher] findings regarding residual functional
capacity, and . . . were also consistent withntieglical evidence of record.” ALJ Decision, R. at
50. Although the physicians “were not able to ttba claimant, thefpad the opportunity to
review much of the evidence tihe file,” and their opinions wergonsistent with the [medical]
evidence” and the opinions of two of Johnsdrésting physicians, Dr. Memmo and Dr. Weeks.
Id. (citing Letter from Pietro A. Memmo, MD to Robert Reginio, MD (June 28, 2013), R. at 701
(stating that he “advised [Johnsdhét the level of pain and diity that he [was] reporting
[was] out of proportion with olective radiological findings”)i.etter from Randall E. Weeks,
PhD, to Peter McAllister, MD (Sept. 15, 2014),d88269-70 (reporting that “[t]est data failed to
find any areas of impairment or significant ciitye decline” and that “test results did not
indicate a neurological explanation for [Jobn's] subjective cognitive complaints”)).

Conversely, the ALJ assigned]ittle weight” to the opinios of Dr. McAllister because
they were “out of proportion to his treatment naesvell as the treatment notes and opinions of
other providers.ld. at 51. For example, on May 28, 2014—s#aene day that he wrote a letter at
Johnson’s attorney’s request reporting tlatnson’s “fatigue and encephalopathy . . .
continue[d] to cause significant functional disabilitggeLetter from Peter McAllister, MD to
Anne Hoyt (May 28, 2014), R. at 873—Dr. Mitidter recorded in a treatment note that
Johnson’s back exhibited “no temdess” and that he had “[nJormal affect, memory, mentation,

speech and language function,” and had “[n]Jdmmeator tone, bulk and strength throughout.”
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Treatment Note by Peter McAltex, MD (May 28, 2014), R. at 876. Likewise, the ALJ gave
only “[p]artial weight” to the opinion of Dr. Rolits because his “opinion was . . . inconsistent
with the treatment notes contathm the record.” ALJ DecisioR. at 52. Dr. Robbins issued a
very restrictive opinion despite “diagnostic testing, which revealed no significant abnormalities,
as well as Dr. Robbins’[s] own treatment ngfeshich indicated thafJohnson]'s brain MRI
revealed no abnormalitiedd. at 52—-53. Both Dr. McAllister'and Dr. Robbins’s opinions were
inconsistent with those of Johnson’s othertirgpphysicians, such as his neurosurgeon, Dr.
Kvam, and his infectious disease specialisa Chirch, MD (who “examined [Johnson] but
found no musculoskeletal, neurolodiaar psychiatric abnormalities®)ld. at 53.

The inconsistencies between the opinions of Dr. McAllister and Dr. Robbins, on the one
hand, and their treatment notegldhe opinions of other physias, on the other, presented a
“[g]enuine conflict[] in the medical evidee . . . for the Commissioner to resolvB€e Burgess
537 F.3d at 128. As the Second Circuit recentlg,hghere a doctor’s opinion is “in conflict
with content in that doctor’s own clinical notesd in conflict with the opinion of [other
physicians],” those factors “constitute ‘good @as for the limited weight attributedCamille
v. Colvin 562 F. App’x 25, 27 (2d Cir. 2016) (summarger). Furthermore, even if “the record
contains evidence” that might support Dr. Micgter’'s and Dr. Robbins’s opinions, it also
“contains substantial evidee supporting the conclusion[gjrawn by the other treating
physicians and by the AL$anders v. Comm’r of Soc. Sé&f)6 F. App’x 74, 76 (2d Cir. 2012)

(summary order). Because “[i]t ot [my] functbn to determinele novowhether [Depoto] is

8 The ALJ did err, however, in stating that “Dolsbins’[s] report is incoristent with itself in
that he indicates the claimant can walk for 3@utes . . . [but] could only stand for 20 minutes.”
SeeALJ Decision, R. at 52. As anyone who has speal#dyaat a museum cartesdt, it is entirely
possible for a person to be tiretbre by standing still for amxtended period than by walking.
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disabled,”Brault, 683 F.3d at 447, nor “to resolve esdiary conflicts”in the recordAponte v.
Sec'y, Dep't of Health & Human Sery$28 F.2d 588, 591 (2d Cir. 1984), | affirm the ALJ’s
decision not to give controlling weight Rr. McAllister’s and Dr. Robbins’s opinions.

For the same reasons, | conclude that—duéedecided not to give Dr. McAllister's and
Dr. Robbins’s opinions controlling weight—AILSingh properly evaluated the persuasiveness of
the opinions under the factors listed in 20 C.BR04.1527(c)(2)—(6). “An ALJ need not recite
every piece of evidence that contttieéd to the decision, so long ag tlecord ‘permits [the court]
to glean the rationale @in ALJ’s decision.”Cichocki v. Astrug729 F.3d 172, 178 n.3 (2d Cir.
2013). Here, the ALJ was sufficiently specifioamting that Dr. McAllister's and Dr. Robbins’s
opinions were “all out of proportion to [theireatment notes” and the “opinions of other
providers,” including Johnsonther treating physicianSeeALJ Decision, R. at 51Camille
562 F. App’x at 28 (“The ALJ was permitted tonsider Dr. [McAllister]'s treatment notes in
weighing the opinions of Dr. [McAllister] and [the other sources]; and [[he was permitted to
conclude that [the other doctorgjpinions w[ere] more reliable.”"Hence, | affirm the ALJ with

regard to his treatment tife doctors’ medical opinions.

D. Did the ALJ properly consider ¢hwvocational experts’ testimony?

Johnson further argues that #hieJ incorrectly “reject[ed] bdt of the vocational experts’
testimony.” Mem. Supp. Mot. Reverse, Do@.N3-1, at 23. Johnson notes that “[w]hen . . .
limitations” concerning Johnson’s “need for naps fteduent breaks, his inability to remain on
task or to complete tasks in a timely manned his inability to maintain sustained work activity
[eight] hours a day, [five] days a week” wereltinessed to the vocational experts, they both

testified that there would be no workd. at 23. The Commissioner responds that “it was not
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necessary for the ALJ to include in her hypottedtguestion to the vodahal expert, symptoms
and limitations [that] the ALJeasonably rejected.” Mem. Supyot. Affirm, Doc. No. 22, at 13.
The Commissioner is correct.

“The ALJ,” not the vocational expert, “isgonsible for determining, based on all the
evidence, the claimantjghysical capabilities.Dumas 712 F.2d at 1554 n.4. Here, after
considering Johnson’s physical edyities, the ALJ declined to limit him to requiring frequent
breaks and being unable to remain on taska@ed above, that residuanctional capacity
finding was supported by substantial evider®@ee idat 1554. Having determined Johnson’s
residual functional capacity, “the ALJ properly tleed to include in [her] hypothetical question
symptoms and limitations that [s]he had reastnedjected,” and an opinion by the vocational
expert based on those discredited symptdaes not provide grounds to reverse the ALJ’s
decision.See Priel v. Astryet53 F. App’x 84, 87-88 (2d Cir. 2011) (summary order).

E. Did the ALJ accurately describe Johnson’s functional limitations when questioning the
vocational experts?

Johnson identifies one final basis for reversal. The ALJ’s residual functional capacity
finding limited Johnson to “frequently perform[ing] fine and gross hand manipulations with the
upper left non-dominant extremity.” ALJ DecisidR. at 45. At the hearing, however, the ALJ
only asked the vocational expert, Dr. Sachs, teicter a hypothetical person with a limitation to
“frequent . . grosshand manipulations of the left uppedtremity.” ALJ Hr'g Tr., R. at 139
(emphasis added). Johnson contethd$ was error. Mem. Supp. Mdreverse, Doc. No. 13-1, at
24. | agree, and remand to the Commissioner for further development of the record.

After a claimant has proved that his or hesidaal functional capacity precludes a return
to “past relevant work,Greek 802 F.3d at 373 n.2 (citing 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(e), (f),
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404.1560(b)), there is a “limited bumlshift” to the Commissioner to show that “there is work
in the national economy that the claimant can &oldpore 566 F.3d at 306. The ALJ may carry
that burden “either by applyinge Medical Vocational Guidelines or by adducing testimony of a
vocational expert.Mcintyre v. Colvin 758 F.3d 146, 151 (2d Cir. 2014). “A vocational expert
may provide testimony regarding the existencpb$ in the nationadconomy and whether a
particular claimant may be lgbto perform any of thoselps given his or her functional
limitations.” Hamilton v. Comm’r of Soc. Se&05 F. Supp. 3d 223, 229 (N.D.N.Y. 2015) (citing
Dumas 712 F.2d at 1553-54). For the vocational expéestimony “to be considered reliable,”
however, “the hypothetical posed must inclatleof the claimant’s functional limitations . . .
supported by the recorddorbock v. Barnhart210 F. Supp. 2d 125, 134 (D. Conn. 2002)
(quotingFlores v. Shalala49 F.3d 562, 570-71 (9th Cir. 1995)).

If the ALJ “ask[s] the vocational expert a hypetilkal question that iis] to include or
otherwise implicitly account for all of [theaimant]'s impairments,” then “the vocational
expert’s testimony is not ‘substantial evidenaed cannot support the Als conclusion that
[the claimant] c[an] perform significant numbers of jobs in the national econakfigschel v.
Comm’r of Soc. Sec631 F.3d 1176, 1181 (11th Cir. 2014¢e also Lancaster v. Comm'r of
Soc. Se¢228 F. App’x 563, 573 (6th Cir. 2007) (unfished) (“If the hypothetical question
does not accurately portray Plaintiff's physicatianental state, [thetfie vocational expert’s
testimony in response to the hypetical question may not senas substantial evidence in
support of the ALJ’s finding that Plaintiff could perform other workMgdovich v. Colvin
2015 WL 1310310, at *14 (N.D.N.Yar. 23, 2015) (“[E]xpert vaational testimony given in

response to hypothetical questionattio not present the full extent of claimants’ impairments,
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limitations[,] and restrictions . . . cannot cahge substantial evidee to support a conclusion

of no disability.”). In such circumstances, theJ’'s decision may be upheld only if the error was
“harmless,” that is, if other tgstantial evidence in the recbsiipports the ALJ’s conclusions.
See Mcintyre758 F.3d at 152;f. Kohler v. Astrug546 F.3d 260, 269 (2d Cir. 2008).

Here, ALJ Singh did not fully describelinson’s residual functional capacity to Dr.
Sachs. The ALJ found that Johnson was limited to “frequentfijne and gros$iand
manipulations,” ALJ Decision, R. at 45, but steked the vocational exp@nly to consider
“frequent . . grosshand manipulations.” ALJ Hr'g TrR. at 139 (emphasis added). The
distinction is not inconsequential: Social Securggulations indicate #t “gross manipulation
involves reaching (extending thands and arms in any direction), and handling (seizing,
holding, grasping, turning or otherwise workimgmarily with the whole hand or hands,”
whereas “fine manipulation inwgés fingering (picking, pinching atherwise working primarily
with the fingers) or feeling.Rivera v. Sullivan771 F. Supp. 1339, 1353 (S.D.N.Y. 1991) (citing
SSR 83-14, 1983 WL 31254, at *1-*2) (internal quotation marks omitted). “Most sedentary
jobs require good use of the hands and fingersine movements such as picking, pinching,
holding, grasping, and turning-forbock 210 F. Supp. 2d at 136 (quoting SSR 96-9p, 1996 WL
374185, at *8)). Moreover, some jobs that barperformed with limited “gross” hand
manipulations require unimpaired “fine” handhnipulations, and so the ALJ’s omission of
Johnson’s additional restriction means that he fay/[be able to] do any of the jobs” that the
vocational expert describeBee idIndeed, after ALJ Singh informed Dr. Sachs of Johnson’s
“gross” hand manipulation restriction, the vooatl expert replied that the limitation excluded

one of the three jobs he haddsthat Johnson could perfori@eeALJ Hr'g Tr., R. at 139-40.
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The Commissioner argues that the error was harfledisagree. The Commissioner
points to the SSA’'Selected Characteristics of Occupationhich, she asserts, shows that the
jobs identified by Dr. Sachs do not require mitv@n “frequent[] . . . fine and gross hand
manipulations.’Cf. ALJ Decision, R. at 45. Even if t@ommissioner is correct, however, the
ALJ did not rely on thé&elected Characteristics of Occupatipasd her decision must “stand]]
or fall[] on the reasons givenZhong v. U.S. Dep't of Justicé80 F.3d 104, 117 (2d Cir. 2006);
see SEC v. Chenery Corf32 U.S. 194, 196 (1947). | cannot “assume a hypothetical basis for
the [ALJ]'s determination, even one based in the recatidohg 480 F.3d at 117.

Of course, “agency errors do not always watrramand,” and in a flerent context, the
Second Circuit has held that remieof an administrative appaal“futile (a) when the [ALJ]
articulates an alternative and sufficient basidifer determination; (b) when her reliance on the
erroneous aspect of her reasonggubstantially tangential teer non-erroneous findings; or (c)
when overwhelming evidence in the record makekear that the same decision is inevitable.”
Id.; see also Mclintyre758 F.3d at 148 (applying harmless eanalysis to a Social Security
appeal). None of those exceptions applies here ALY explicitly statedhat she “[b]ased” her
finding that Johnson was “capable of making a succeadfuktment to other work that exists in
significant numbers in the national economy” dme‘testimony of the vocational expert.” ALJ
Decision, R. at 55. Far from the ALJ “articulat[irey} alternative and sufficient basis for her
determination,” or “overwhelming evidence in tleeord mak[ing] it cleathat the same decision

is inevitable,”Zhong 480 F.3d at 117, the vocational expentadequate testimony is the only

® The Commissioner also suggestattthe ALJ did not err at alhecause Johnson’s activities of

daily living—which describe regular cooking anceus an iPad—~belie his claim that his fine

manipulation skills are limited. As | notsdipraat 13—14, however, “sgkantial evidence”

supports the ALJ’s finding that Johnson was resttdh his fine hand manipulations, and that

determination “must be upheldSelian v. Astrue708 F.3d 409, 417 (2d Cir. 2013) (per curiam).
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evidence in the record thatports the ALJ’s findings with regard to Johnson’s ability to
perform other work. Nor was the ALJ’s error “tangenti&d.”The mistake was essential to the
ALJ’s finding that Johnson was “not disablda¥cause he could “adjust[] to other workge

ALJ Decision, R. at 55—a step of the disdbitietermination on which the Commissioner bore
the burden of proofSeePoupore 566 F.3d at 306.

When the Second Circuit has deemed an inaccurate hypothetical in a Social Security
disability determination to be “harmless,’hias done so “because the hypothetical question
posed to the vocational expert implicitly (asufficiently) accounted for [the claimant]'s
particular non-exeional limitations.”Mclintyre, 758 F.3d at 148. Specifically, Mcintyre, the
ALJ’s hypothetical did not “explicitly incorporaféhe claimant’s] limitaions in concentration,
persistence, and pacéd. at 152. The court held that omissmaas error, but concluded the error
was harmless because the ALJ “explicitly limiffetthe hypothetical to “simple, routine, low
stress tasks,” which “implicitly account[ed] foh§] claimant’s limitations in concentration,
persistence, and pacéd. (quotingWinschel 631 F.3d at 1180). Furthermore, the Second
Circuit held, “substantial evidence in the recdaeinonstrate[d] that [the claimant] c[ould]
engage in ‘simple, routine, low stress taskkl"Thus, the ALJ’s mistake iNicintyredid not
merit remand because it proved “inconsequettdi#the ultimate nondisability determination.”
See Molina v. Astryé74 F.3d 1104, 1115 (9th Cir. 2018¢e also Spiva v. Astrug28 F.3d
346, 353 (7th Cir. 2010) (stating that in the exttof “judicial review of administrative
decisions,” error is harmless when the “damsis overwhelmingly supported by the record”).

In the present case, the ALJ’s finding thahnson was “capable of making a successful

adjustment to other work” is not “overwhelmigglupported by the record.” ALJ Decision, R. at
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55; cf. Spiva 628 F.3d at 353. To the contrary, the Ad_dbnclusion is only supported by the
opinion of the vocational expert, given in respemo an incompleteypothetical. An opinion
reliant on an inaccurate hypothetical does not constitute “substantial evidéeeaNinschel
631 F.3d at 1181. Because no other evidence supgherfsLJ’s determination with regard to
Johnson’s ability to perform other work, herding of “not disabletis “not supported by

substantial evidence in theaord,” and must be remand&te Greek802 F.3d at 374-75.

V. Conclusion

| deny the Commissioner’s motion to affirrmcagrant Johnson’s motion to reverse to the
extent that it asks thatvhcate the decision of the Conssioner. | remand for further
development of the record withsggect to Johnson’s ability to perfn other work that exists in
significant numbers in the national economy.

The Clerk shall enter judgment, effect remddo the Commissioner, and close the case.

So ordered.

Dated at Bridgeport, Conneatit; this 1st day of June 2017.

& STEFAN R. UNDERHILL
Stefan R. Underhill
United States District Judge
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